IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

HOPE DICAMPLI-MINTZ

Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT

v.

SEP - 9 2011

COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA et al.

Defendant and Respondent.

Frederick K. Oninon Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District, Court of Appeal No. H034160, Santa Clara County Superior Court No. CV089159 Hon. William J. Elfving, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MIGUEL MÁRQUEZ, County Counsel (S.B. #184621)

MELISSA R. KINIYALOCTS, Deputy County Counsel (S.B. #215814)

melissa.kiniyalocts@cco.sccgov.org

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY COUNSEL

70 West Hedding Street, 9th Floor, East Wing

San Jose, California 95110-1770

ISSUE PRESENTED

Government Code section 915, subdivision (a), requires presentation of a government claim to a local public entity by delivering it to the clerk, secretary, or auditor, or mailing it to one of these officials or the governing body. Government Code section 915, subdivision (e)(1), provides that a claim shall be deemed to have been presented in compliance with the Government Claims Act if it is actually received by the clerk, secretary, auditor, or board of a local public entity. May a claimant deliver a claim to a public employee who is not one of the statutorily-designated recipients but is someone who "manages claims," or is strict compliance with Section 915 as enacted by the Legislature required?

II.

INTRODUCTION

The Government Claims Act (Government Code §§ 810-996.6)

delineates specific requirements for the presentation of claims to public entities. One of the goals of the Government Claims Act is to eliminate confusion and uncertainty resulting from different claims procedures among public entities throughout California.

Government Code section 915, subdivision (a) requires the

presentation of a claim to certain specified individuals. But even if a claim is not presented to one of these individuals, subdivision (e)(1), provides that a claim is "deemed to have been presented in compliance" with the statute if, within the time to present a claim, "[it] is actually received by the clerk, secretary, auditor or board of the local public entity." California's Second, Third, Fourth, and Fifth Appellate Districts have held that the plain language of Government Code section 915, subdivision (e)(1), requires that a claim must be actually received by the clerk, secretary, auditor, or board of a local public entity within the time prescribed.

In contrast, the Sixth Appellate District concluded that Government Code section 915(e)(1) does not require actual receipt by a designated official or governing body if a department or employee who handles claims receives a claim. (*DiCampli-Mintz v. County of Santa Clara* (2011) 125 Cal.Rptr.3d 861, 863.) The decision also implied that receipt by a legal department or attorney for the public entity constitutes substantial compliance with Section 915(e)(1). (*Id.* at p. 870.)

Under the Sixth Appellate District's analysis, substantial compliance with the requirements of Government Code section 915 will suffice; e.g., a claimant may have substantially complied with the statute if a local public entity's department or employee who handles claims – but not one of the

public officials identified by the Legislature – receives a misdirected claim.

This analysis contradicts the plain meaning of the statute, which delineates specific officials as proper recipients of claims.

Moreover, the Sixth Appellate District's decision creates uncertainty for claimants and public entities about where a claim must be delivered, as public entities routinely reorganize responsibilities among departments, divisions, and officers in response to budget cuts, lay offs, and for other reasons. This uncertainty will lead to costly litigation to determine whether claims were delivered to a department or employee who handles claims. Further, for claims that were not initially delivered to a department or employee deemed to be responsible for claims, public entities will be forced to litigate, and courts will have to decide, when a public entity's time begins to run to respond to misdirected claims that wend their way to these potentially responsible departments and employees.

This Court should interpret Government Code section 915(e)(1) in accordance with the statute's express language, which requires claims to be actually received by a statutorily-designated official or board. Such interpretation will fulfill the intent of the Government Claims Act to establish uniform procedures throughout California for presenting claims against local public entities. It will also fulfill the intent of Government

Code section 915(3)(1) requiring that claims must be delivered to a statutorily-designated official or board to avoid costly and time-consuming litigation between claimants and local public entities.

Ш.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 4, 2006, two doctors performed a hysterectomy on Hope DiCampli-Mintz (Plaintiff) at the Santa Clara Valley Medical Center (SCVMC), a hospital owned and operated by the County. (*DiCampli-Mintz, supra*, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 863.) In the recovery room Plaintiff complained of cramps in her left leg, which appeared bluish and cold to the touch. (*Ibid.*) Imaging studies showed that Plaintiff's left iliac artery was "completely interrupted." (*Ibid.*) That same day Plaintiff was returned to surgery to repair her left iliac artery and vein. (*Ibid.*)

In June 2006 Plaintiff went to SCVMC's Emergency Department because she was in pain. (*DiCampli-Mintz*, *supra*, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 863; Clerk's Transcript (CT) at p. 73.) An emergency room physician told Plaintiff that her blood vessels had been damaged during the first surgery on April 4, 2006, which required the second surgery. (*DiCampli-Mintz*, *supra*, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 863.) On October 25, 2006, another SCVMC doctor

expressed sympathy for Plaintiff's condition and asked if she had consulted an attorney. (*Ibid.*; CT at p. 82.)

On April 3, 2007 – a year after Plaintiff's surgery – Plaintiff's attorney delivered to a clerical employee at the Medical Staffing Office at SCVMC's Administrative Building three copies of a letter addressed to the two doctors who performed the April 4, 2006 surgery and to a clerical employee at the SCVMC Risk Management Department. (*DiCampli-Mintz*, *supra*, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 864; CT at pp. 109, 176, 217-25.) The letter indicated that Plaintiff was providing notice in accordance with Code of Civil Procedure section 364 that she would file an action for damages stemming from the April 4, 2006 surgery. (*Ibid.*) The letter included a request that the recipients forward the letter to their insurance carrier. (*Ibid.*)

On April 6, 2007, Plaintiff's attorney received a telephone message from a liability claims adjuster from the County's Employee Services Agency (ESA) Risk Management Department. (*DiCampli-Mintz, supra,* 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 864; CT at pp. 158-59; 176.) On April 23, 2007, Plaintiff's attorney and the claims adjuster spoke by telephone. (*DiCampli-Mintz, supra,* 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 864.) The claims adjuster noted receipt of the notice; opined that service on SCVMC required a tort claim, which

was late; questioned whether a tort claim was required as to the two doctors and indicated that he would look into that; stated that Plaintiff had an interesting case; said a theory of defense was that Plaintiff placed herself at risk with her obesity; and finally, advised that an attorney from the Office of the County Counsel would handle the County's defense. (*Ibid.*)

On July 7, 2007, Plaintiff filed an action naming the two doctors and SCVMC as defendants. (*DiCampli-Mintz*, *supra*, 125 Cal.Rptr. 3d at p. 864.) The complaint alleged that SCVMC was a hospital owned and operated by the County and that the two doctors were employees of the County. (CT at p. 5.) The complaint acknowledged that Plaintiff was required to comply with the Government Claims Act but alleged that she was excused from doing so because defendants had failed to notify her in writing that her notice was untimely or otherwise defective as required by the Government Claims Act. (*DiCampli-Mintz*, *supra*, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 864.)

The County filed a motion for summary judgment on the ground that Plaintiff failed to present a timely claim to the County pursuant to Government Code section 915. (*DiCampli-Mintz*, *supra*, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 865.) The trial court granted the motion on the grounds that the County made a sufficient showing of Plaintiff's noncompliance with the

Government Claims Act; that Plaintiff did not raise a reasonable inference that her claim was actually received by the statutorily-designated official within the time prescribed for presentation of the claim; and that Plaintiff did not establish waiver and/or estoppel. (*Ibid.*) Plaintiff appealed. (*Ibid.*)

B. THE SIXTH APPELLATE DISTRICT'S DECISION

The Sixth Appellate District's published decision reversed the trial court and held that a claim may substantially comply with the Government Claims Act, notwithstanding a claimant's failure to deliver or mail it to one of the statutorily-designated recipients, if it is given to a department or person whose functions include the management or defense of claims against the entity, "so long as the purposes of the act are satisfied and no prejudice is suffered by the defendant." (*DiCampli-Mintz, supra,* 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 863.) This decision should be reversed for several reasons.

First, the Sixth Appellate District held that a misdirected government claim substantially complied with the claim-presentation requirements even though a statutorily-designated official or body never actually received the misdirected claim. The court reasoned that because a County liability claims adjuster received the misdirected claim, Plaintiff was excused from complying with the claim-presentation requirements. (*DiCampli-Mintz*,

supra, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 876.) This conclusion is inconsistent with the plain language of Government Code section 915.

Second, the Sixth Appellate District declined to follow the rule established in four other districts that the substantial-compliance doctrine does not apply in the absence of evidence that a claim was actually received by the statutorily-designated official or governing body as required by Government Code section 915. (*DiCampli-Mintz, supra,* 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 872-76.) The Sixth Appellate District's decision also conflicts with longstanding precedent that holds that the substantial-compliance doctrine applies only in situations where all of the statutory requirements for a valid claim are met but the claim is technically deficient in some manner.

Third, the Sixth Appellate District followed *Jamison v. State of California* (1973) 31 Cal.App.3d 513, a case that had already been repudiated by the same district that issued it. (*DiCampli-Mintz, supra,* 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 868-70.) Notably, the district that issued and later repudiated *Jamison* is one of the districts that has held that the substantial-compliance doctrine did not apply when there was no actual receipt by a statutorily-designated recipient under Government Code section 915. (*Del Real v. City of Riverside* (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 761, 770.)

Fourth, the Sixth Appellate District relied on out-of-state cases

holding that claims served on a public entity's legal department complied with claim-presentation requirements in those jurisdictions. (*DiCampli-Mintz, supra,* 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 870-71.) But all other California courts that have considered whether service of claims on a public entity's legal department excused compliance with Government Code section 915 have held that claims had to be actually received by a statutorily-designated recipient; not a public entity's legal department. Moreover, courts in other jurisdictions have held that claims must be presented to statutorily-designated recipients to be effective.

The Sixth Appellate District's decision broadens the substantial-compliance doctrine in a manner that is contrary to the plain language of Government Code section 915 and creates confusion for claimants and public entities about where a claim may be appropriately directed and when the time for a public entity to respond to a misdirected claim begins to run. The decision should be reversed.

//

//

//

//

//

ANALYSIS

- A. THE SIXTH APPELLATE DISTRICT'S DECISION IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE PLAIN MEANING OF GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 915
 - 1. The Government Claims Act sets forth specific requirements for proper presentation of claims and time periods for public entities to respond to claims.

This Court has adopted the practice of referring to California's claims statutes as the Government Claims Act. (*City of Stockton v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 730, 743.) One of the stated goals of the Government Claims Act, enacted in 1963, was to eliminate confusion and uncertainty resulting from different claims procedures. (4 Cal. L. Revision Comm. Rep. (1963) at p. 1008.)

The purpose of the claim-presentation requirements is not to prevent surprise but to provide a public entity sufficient information to enable it to adequately investigate claims and to settle them, if appropriate, without the expense of litigation. (City of Stockton, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 738.)

Moreover, the intent of the Government Claims Act is "not to expand the rights of plaintiffs against government entities. Rather, the intent of the Act is to confine potential governmental liability to rigidly delineated circumstances." (Munoz v. State of California (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 1767,

1776 [citing Williams v. Horvath (1976) 16 Cal.3d 834, 838].)

Government Code section 905 requires the presentation of "all claims for money or damages against local public entities," subject to certain exceptions not relevant here. Claims for personal injury must be presented within six months after accrual. (Gov. Code § 911.2.) The burden of ensuring that a claim is presented to the appropriate public entity is on the claimant – not the public entity presented with the claim. (*Life v. County of Los Angeles* (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 894, 901.)

A claim must provide the name and address of the claimant; the date, place, and circumstances of the occurrence that gave rise to the claim; a description of the claimant's injury; the name or names of the public

¹ A medical malpractice cause of action accrues on claimants' actual or constructive discovery of the malpractice. (Martinez v. County of Los Angeles (1978) 78 Cal.App.3d 242, 245.) Thus, Plaintiff had notice of medical-malpractice cause of action on April 4, 2006, after her first surgery, when she complained of cramps in her left leg and was returned to surgery that same day to repair her left iliac artery and vein. (DiCampli-Mintz, supra, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 863.) Plaintiff's notice of her medicalmalpractice cause of action was confirmed in June 2006, when she went to SCVMC's Emergency Department and a physician told her that her blood vessels had been damaged in the first April 4, 2006 surgery. (Ibid.) But Plaintiff disingenuously alleges that she did not discover that she had a medical-malpractice cause of action until October 25, 2006, when a SCVMC physician expressed sympathy for her condition and asked if she had consulted an attorney. (Ibid.) But it was not until April 3, 2007, that Plaintiff's attorney delivered a letter to clerical employees at SCVMC that indicated that Plaintiff intended to file suit for damages stemming from the first April 4, 2006 surgery. (*Id.* at p. 864.)

employee or employees who caused the injury; and if the amount claimed exceeds \$10,000, whether the claim would be a limited civil case. (Gov. Code § 910.) A claim must be signed by the claimant or someone acting on the claimant's behalf. (Gov. Code § 910.2.)

If a claim fails to comply substantially with Government Code sections 910 and 910.2, the board or person designated by it may give written notice of the insufficiency within 20 days of presentation of the claim. (Gov. Code § 910.8.) A public entity waives any defense as to the insufficiency of a claim if it does not give such notice. (Gov. Code § 911.)

If a claim that is required to be presented within six months of accrual of the cause of action is not presented within that time frame, the board or person designated by it has 45 days after the claim is presented to give written notice to the claimant that the claim was untimely and that it is being returned without further action. (Gov. Code § 911.3(a).) A public entity that fails to provide such notice waives any defense that the claim was untimely. (Gov. Code § 911.3(b).)

If an injured party fails to file a timely claim, the party may make a written application to the public entity for leave to present a late claim within one year of accrual of the cause of action. (Gov. Code § 911.4.) If the public entity denies the application, Government Code section 946.6

authorizes the injured party to petition the court for relief from the claimpresentation requirements.

No suit for money or damages may be brought against a public entity on a cause of action for which a claim is required to be presented until a written claim has been presented to the public entity and has been acted upon or has deemed to have been rejected." (Gov. Code § 945.4.) Under the Government Claims Act, "failure to timely present a claim for money or damages to a public entity bars a plaintiff from filing a lawsuit against that entity." (City of Stockton, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 738 [quoting State of California v. Superior Court (Bodde) (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1243, 1239].)

This Court has recognized that "[i]t is well-settled that claims statutes must be satisfied even in [the] face of the public entity's actual knowledge of the circumstances surrounding the claim." (*City of Stockton, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 738; [citing *City of San Jose v. Superior Court* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 447, 455].) A public entity's "knowledge of a claim – standing alone – constitutes neither substantial compliance nor basis for estoppel." (*Pacific Tel. & Tel. Co. v. County of Riverside* (1980) 106 Cal.App.3d 183, 191.)

//

11

2. Government Code section 915 requires that a claim be actually received by the statutorily-designated official or body and does not allow for service on other public employees.

Government Code section 915, subdivision (a), provides in relevant part that "[a] claim ... shall be presented to a local public entity by either of the following means: (1) delivering it to the clerk, secretary or auditor thereof; [or] (2) mailing it to the clerk, secretary, auditor, or to the governing body at its principal office." Subdivision (e) of the statute states the Legislature's determination of what constitutes substantial compliance with this presentation requirement: "[a] claim . . . shall be deemed to have been presented in compliance with this section even though it is not delivered or mailed as provided in this section if, within the time prescribed for presentation thereof, . . . [i]t is actually received by the clerk, secretary, auditor or board of the local public entity." (Emphasis added.)

The Legislative history of Section 915 recognizes that much unnecessary litigation has been devoted to resolution of technical issues relating to allegedly improper presentation of claims. (Request for Judicial Notice, Cal. Law Rev. Comm. Recommendation and Study Relating to the Presentation of Claims Against Public Entities, Jan. 1959, Exhibit A at p. A-122.) The Legislature intended that this statute would prevent disputes about whether presentation to the wrong official satisfied the statute. (*Ibid.*)

To achieve this purpose, the Legislature provided clear identification of the officer to whom claims are required to be presented. (*Ibid.*)

Government Code section 25100.5 states that a county board of supervisors may provide by ordinance for the appointment of a clerk of the board. The clerk of the board of supervisors performs those duties prescribed by law for the county clerk as ex officio clerk of the board of supervisors and such additional duties as the board of supervisors prescribes by ordinance. (Gov. Code § 25100.5.) These duties include receiving claims. (Gov. Code § 25101(d).)

In the County of Santa Clara, the Board of Supervisors is the governing body and designated the Clerk of the Board as the official responsible for receiving and filing on behalf of the Board any and all petitions, applications, and requests for consideration of the Board. (Gov. Code §§ 25100.5 and 25101; County Charter, Art. II § 200 ["The Board of Supervisors shall . . . (c) Appoint . . . the . . . Clerk of the Board of Supervisors "]; and County Ordinance Code, Title A, Ch. II, § A5-18.)

Here, the Sixth Appellate District held that a claim substantially complied with the Government Claims Act, notwithstanding the fact that it was presented more than six months after the date of injury and was never actually received by one of the statutorily-designated recipients in

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