Supreme Court Case No: S194501

58

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COUR FILED

OCT 1 1 2011 .

Frederick K. Ohmon Lier.

HOPE DICAMPLI-MINTZ,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Deput/

v.

COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA, et al.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H034160 [Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. 1-07-CV-089159]

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

J. Michael Fitzsimmons, State Bar No. 132343
Lisa Jeong Cummins, State Bar No. 118087
lcummins@campbellwarburton.com
CAMPBELL, WARBURTON, FITZSIMMONS, SMITH,
MENDELL & PASTORE, A Professional Corporation
64 West Santa Clara Street
San Jose, CA 95113-1806

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

DISCUSSION

A. <u>Purposes of Government Claims Statutes</u>

The primary function of California's Government Claims Act is two-fold: (1) to apprise a governmental entity of imminent legal action; and, (2) to provide it with sufficient information to enable it to investigate and timely evaluate the merits of a claim and, where appropriate, settle and avoid the expense of litigating meritorious claims. City of San Jose v. Superior Court (1974) 12 Cal.3d 447, 455. So long as the purposes of the claims statutes are effectuated, its requirements should be given a liberal construction in order to permit full adjudication of the case on its merits. Johnson v. San Diego Unified School District (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 692, 697.

B. The Substantial Compliance Doctrine

1. Pre-Enactment of California's Government Claims Act

Prior to the enactment of the *Government Claims Act*, and within it Section 915, California courts were applying the substantial compliance doctrine to cases wherein the claim was filed with the wrong entity.

In Milovich v. City of Los Angeles (1941) 42 Cal.App.2d 364, plaintiff contractor argued that the filing of his claim with the city's chief

engineer, as provided for in the construction contract, was in sufficient compliance with the city's charter provisions, which specified that claims were to be presented to the Board of Water and Power Commissioners. The court stated that "the purpose of filing a claim, as provided in the charter, is to enable public officials to make proper investigation concerning the merits of the claim and, if in their opinion settlement of such claim be proper, to proceed to such disposition without the expense of a lawsuit." (42 Cal.App.2d at 372.) It held that "[v]iewed from any standpoint of fairness, equity and justice, the respondent herein complied substantially with the provisions of section 363 of the Los Angeles City Charter." (*Id.* at p. 371.) The court noted that when "there is no evident intention to mislead, but a *bona fide* attempt to comply with the law, the notice is sufficient in the absence of any evidence that it did in fact mislead." (*Id.* at p. 372.)

Similarly, this Court, in *Natural Soda Products Company v. City of Los Angeles* (1943) 23 Cal.2d 193, found substantial compliance with the presentment provisions of Section 363 of the Charter of Los Angeles even though the claim was not served on the Board of Water Commissioners. Instead, plaintiff presented his claim to the Department of Water and Power, which passed it along to the legal division. The deputy city attorney then sent it to the proper board. In finding substantial compliance, this Court held that "the requirement that a claim be presented to such a board is satisfied by presentation to a subordinate who represents the board for the recipient of such claims from the public." (23 Cal.2d at 202.)

Another one of this Court's pre-Government Claims Act cases applying the substantial compliance doctrine to a misdirected claim is Peters v. City and County of San Francisco (1953) 41 Cal.2d 419. It was held that, "while plaintiff should have filed the signed original of the claim

with the clerk of the board of supervisors [rather than with the city controller], her failure to do so does not defeat her right to recover. The purpose of requiring presentation of a written claim is to give the appropriate municipal body timely notice of the accident and an opportunity to investigate it." (41 Cal.2d at 426.)

Insolo v. Imperial Irrigation District (1956) 147 Cal.App.2d 172 was discussed by the Sixth District in DiCampli-Mintz and summarized therein:

"This was an action arising from a nuisance, in which the trial court entered a nonsuit on the ground that the plaintiff had not complied with a claims statute requiring service on the secretary of the defendant water district. The plaintiff's attorney had mailed the claim to the district's headquarters, where a mail clerk opened it and signed a return receipt. (*Id.* at p. 174.) It was then given to the business manager, who later reported that he had given or sent it to the district secretary. (*Ibid.*) The district originally admitted that the plaintiff had complied with the claims requirement, but subsequently amended its answer to deny proper presentment. (*Ibid.*) The reviewing court held that the plaintiff's actions constituted substantial compliance. (*Id.* at p. 175.)

2. Government Code §915 and Substantial Compliance

Section 915, in pertinent part, provides:

- "(a) A claim, any amendment thereto, or an application to the public entity for leave to present a late claim shall be presented to a local public entity by either of the following means:
- (1) Delivering it to the clerk, secretary or auditor thereof.

(2) Mailing it to the clerk, secretary, auditor, or to the governing body at its principal office.

.

- (e) A claim, amendment or application shall be deemed to have been presented in compliance with this section even though it is not delivered or mailed as provided in this section if, within the time prescribed for presentation thereof, any of the following apply:
- (1) It is actually received by the clerk, secretary, auditor or board of the local public entity."

As recognized by the court in *DiCampli-Mintz* [citing *Jamison v. State of California* (1973) 31 Cal.App.3d 513, 516], "most extant decisions on the question of substantial compliance involve defects in 'the integrity of the claim itself – the *form* of the claim – as distinguished from the method of its presentment – the *filing*." (195 Cal.App.4th 1327 at p. 1337.) Cases uniformly hold, and the County does not dispute, that the substantial compliance doctrine applies to save claims that are defective in some manner as to form or content; i.e., not in compliance with *Government Code* section 910. Where the parties and the courts diverge is over the question of whether the substantial compliance doctrine is applicable to situations where the claim was not presented to one of the designated recipients specified in Section 915.

Complicating any substantial compliance analysis in the claim presentment context is the reasoning and holding by the Second Appellate District (Division 3) in *Life v. County of Los Angeles* (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 894, characterizing the provisions of Section 915(e) as "codifying" the substantial compliance doctrine within the meaning of that section. This erroneous supposition was followed by the Fifth Appellate

District in *Munoz v. State of California* (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 1767, as well as by the Fourth Appellate District (Division 2) in *Del Real v. City of Riverside* (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 761, which both cited the *Life* decision with approval.

Entering the fray, with a contrary and better reasoned analysis, is the Sixth Appellate District's decision in *DiCampli-Mintz v. County of Santa Clara* (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1327. The Sixth District opined that the *Life* court:

"... turned the doctrine of substantial compliance on its head by basing the scope of its application on a strict reading of the statute. That treatment is reflected in the court's references to 'the substantial compliance doctrine as codified in section 915, subdivision (d)' and to 'substantial compliance under the statute.' (Life, supra.227 Cal.App.3d at p. 901, italics added.) These constructions betray a basic misunderstanding of the doctrine of substantial compliance, which can only come into play when statutory requirements have not been strictly or fully satisfied. [citation, italics added]...

The gist of the substantial compliance doctrine is that in appropriate cases courts will look beyond the terms of a statute to consult its underlying purpose, particularly where strict adherence will result in the loss of important rights. By requiring a plaintiff to bring his or her compliance squarely within the terms of the governing statute, without regard to its purpose, the court in *Life* effectively held the doctrine of substantial compliance *inapplicable* to the presentment of government claims. By doing so, it repudiated not only *Jamison* but at least 80 years of California precedent . . ."

(DiCampli-Mintz, supra., 195 Cal.App.4th at 1343-1344.)

Appellate courts review questions of statutory interpretation

"seeking, as always, to ascertain the Legislature's intent so as to give effect to the law's purpose." [citations omitted] . . . "If 'statutory text is susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, [the court] will consider a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part." [citations omitted] "Ultimately [the court will] choose the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute." [citations omitted] Page v. Miracosta Community College District (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 471, 485-486.

The court in *Life*, supra., held that Section 915(c) [now subsection (e)] "codified" the substantial compliance doctrine with respect to presentment of government claims. However, since nowhere in Section 915 did the Legislature use language that indicated an intent to make the provisions of subsection (e) the exclusive measure of substantial compliance with the statute, it is reasonable to interpret that subsection as not ruling out other factors and conditions under which substantial compliance can be found. Such a statutory construction, would allow more liberal application of the substantial compliance doctrine, and thereby better promote (rather than defeat, as with strict compliance) the clear purposes and primary function of the Government Claims Act; i.e., to apprise the governmental entity of imminent legal action and to provide it with sufficient information to enable it to investigate and evaluate claims, and to settle them when appropriate. City of San Jose v. Superior Court (1974) 12 The Sixth District, in DiCampli-Mintz aptly analyzed Cal.3d 447, 455. the statutory language of Section 915(e)(1) and Life's treatment of it in this manner:

"The supposed requirement of actual receipt, on which the [Life] court's entire analysis rests, is drawn from the statutory proviso that a claim 'shall be deemed to have been presented in compliance with this section even though it is not delivered or mailed as provided in this section' if the claim 'is actually received by the clerk, secretary, auditor or board of the local public entity. . . .' [citations] This provision does not by its terms require actual receipt. Rather it permits actual receipt to substitute for the prescribed modes of presentment. It is unquestionably remedial in character, its purpose being to ameliorate the harsh effects that would otherwise flow from those more specific prescriptions.

As a remedial statute, the cited provision should be *broadly* construed. [citation] The *Life* court read this permissive provision as mandatory, and indeed applied it to *impose a procedural forfeiture*, even though statutes inflicting such a result are to be *narrowly* construed. [citation]..."

(DiCampli-Mintz, supra., 195 Cal.App.4th at p. 1343.)

It is entirely reasonable to assume, that the Legislature, when enacting Section 915, would have chosen appropriate and precise language if it had intended subdivision (e) to codify and constitute the sole means by which the substantial compliance doctrine can be satisfied in the claim presentment context. However, the terminology used in Section 915(e) and several other code sections within its statutory scheme belie such an interpretation.

Subdivision (e) of Section 915 provides that a claim "shall be deemed" to have been presented "in compliance" with this section if actually received by one of the designated recipients. Compare the language used in *Government Code* section 910.8, pertaining to the requirement that notification of a claim's insufficiency be provided by the

public entity: "If, in the opinion of the board or the person designated by it, a claim as presented fails to *comply substantially* with the requirements of Sections 910 and 910.2..." [italics added]

Given the fact that in 1963 when the *Government Claims Act* was enacted, the substantial compliance doctrine was already firmly rooted in California's common law, the Legislature's choice of words to use in Section 910.8 ("comply substantially") versus those used in Section 915(e) ("deemed to have been presented in compliance") speaks volumes. Had the Legislature intended for subsection (e) of Section 915 to occupy the entire universe of "substantial compliance" in the claim presentment context, it could have said so by using the word "substantial" to modify the word "compliance" as it did with Section 910.8. This was not done.

The word "deem" is defined as "to come to think or judge: consider" (http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/deem). Therefore, the reasonable interpretation of Section 915(e) is that, in addition to delivering the claim directly to the designated recipient, the presentment requirement may also be satisfied (deemed compliant or considered the equivalent of compliance) if the designated recipient actually receives the claim.

To the extent that the court in *Life* adopted a strict interpretation of Section 915, Plaintiff urges this Court to reject its holding, as did the Sixth District, as being inconsistent and antithetical to the oft stated purposes and intent behind the government claims statutes. Further, the *Life* court's holding that Section 915(c) [now subsection (e)] "codified" the substantial compliance doctrine with respect to presentment of a government claim is not consistent with cases such as *Elias v. San Bernardino County Flood*

Control District (1977) 68 Cal.App.3d 70, since those cases did not limit their finding of substantial compliance to "actual receipt" by the entities listed in Section 915(e)(1). The unyielding interpretation advocated by Defendant County herein flies in the face of the substantial compliance test, which requires the court to ask whether sufficient information is disclosed on the face of the filed claims to reasonably enable the public entity to make an adequate investigation of the merits of the claim and to settle it without the expense of a lawsuit (Loehr v. Ventura County Community College Dist. (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 1071, 1083) and mandates that, in appropriate cases, where the public entity has suffered no prejudice, substantial compliance will be found. (Donohue v. State of California (1986) 178 Cal.App.3d 795, 804).

3. Life, Munoz, Del Real, and Westcon

Plaintiff agrees with the Sixth District's analysis of each of these cases in *DiCampli-Mintz* and therefore will defer to that Court's treatment therein, but will add the following supplemental arguments.

The fact that the substantial compliance doctrine is applicable to cases involving defective claim presentment is illustrated by the analyses afforded the issue in the cases cited by County as being inconsistent with DiCampli-Mintz [Life v. County of Los Angeles (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 894, 899-900 (recognized applicability of substantial compliance doctrine, but found that there was none under its facts); Munoz v. State of California

(1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 1767, 1778-1780 (also recognized applicability of doctrine, but did not find substantial compliance, citing *Life*); *Del Real v. City of Riverside* (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 761, 770 (impliedly recognized applicability of doctrine by citing the reasoning of *Life* approvingly); *Westcon Construction Corp. v. County of Sacramento* (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 183, 200-202 (recognized applicability of doctrine and engaged in extensive analysis of why plaintiff's presentment in that case did not substantially comply with *Government Code* section 915)]. Therefore, while there may still be inconsistencies in the ultimate holdings of these cases (i.e., substantial compliance can only be found in a Section 915 claim presentment case where the misdirected claim is actually received by the designated recipient) with that of the Sixth District, the analytical process utilized in each case appeared to be consistent.

Each of those cases also explicitly or impliedly acknowledged the purposes of the government claims statutes: (1) to apprise a governmental entity of imminent legal action; and, (2) to provide it with sufficient information to enable it to investigate and timely evaluate the merits of a claim and, where appropriate, settle and avoid the expense of litigating meritorious claims. *City of San Jose v. Superior Court* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 447, 455.

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